

SCHOOL OF ECONOMICS AND MANAGEMENT

Master's thesis

Sustainability Report in the context of pandemic from legitimacy theory and stakeholder theory perspective

A case study of Nordic Region Pharmaceutical companies

BUSN79 – Degree project in Accounting and Finance Spring 2022

Authors:

Supervisor:

Nanxi Li

Oloruntobiloba Idowu-Aire

Dr. Mark Robinson

Abstract

Seminar Date:	01-Jun-22				
Course:	BUSN79 – Degree project in Accounting and Finance				
Authors:	Nanxi Li				
	Oloruntobiloba Idowu-Aire				
Advisor/ Examiner:	Dr. Mark Robinson/ Anna Glenngård				
Key words:	Sustainability Reporting, pharmaceutical industry, non- financial information disclosure, stakeholder theory, legitimacy theory				
Purpose:	This study aims to determine how a company uses sustainability reporting to engage its stakeholders, with a view toward analysing legitimacy theory and stakeholder theory. Sustainability disclosure is a key source for determining whether a stakeholder will keep a relationship with a company. Focusing on pharmaceuticals in the Nordic region yields more conclusive results because the Nordic countries place a high priority on sustainability.				
Methodology:	Qualitative approach using Content Analysis method				
Theoretical perspective:	This study is based on the sustainability reporting theory and previous research results on its impact on the sustainability practices of pharmaceutical companies.				
Empirical Foundation:	The qualitative study is based on a sample of the top ten Nordic pharmaceutical companies for the years 2019 - 2021.				
Conclusion:	Through content analysis, this study discusses the legitimacy and stakeholder theory perspective of Nordic pharmaceutical companies' disclosure of Sustainability Reports in the context of a pandemic. The analysis shows that most pharmaceutical companies improved the overall sustainable disclosure level during the pandemic, especially in the aspect of social sustainability, and paid more attention to drug access, employee health and safety, and human rights, but lacked in the aspect of environmental sustainability. The research shows that Nordic pharmaceutical companies create reports according to EU directives and regional rules such as GRI and SASB standards, and the preparation of enterprise sustainability reports during the pandemic is consistent with the legitimacy theory and stakeholder theory. The study emphasised the possible impact of pandemic on sustainable reporting of pharmaceutical companies, and revealed the internal relationship between sustainable reporting and related theories.				

Acknowledgement

First of all, we would like to extend my sincere gratitude to our supervisor Dr. Mark Robinson for his constructive advice and useful suggestions on our thesis. We are very grateful to him for encouraging and helping us to complete this paper with enthusiasm and sincerity.

We also appreciate our examiner, Anna Glenngård. Her professional and rigorous comments improved the research and saved us from many mistakes.

Finally, we thank our parents and friends for their continuous support and encouragement during the preparation of our master's thesis.Acknowledgement

Table of Contents

1. Introduction	6
2. Literature review	9
2.1 Sustainability and the role of sustainability reporting	10
2.2 Legitimacy Theory	12
2.3 Stakeholder Theory	14
2.4 Sustainability Reporting in the Pharmaceutical Industry	16
2.5 GRI standards and the application of GRI in Sustainability Report	16
2.5.1 GRI Standards	16
2.5.2 GRI application in Sustainability Reporting	18
2.6 The European Union (EU) Directive on Sustainability Reporting	19
3. Methodology	21
3.1 Content Analysis procedures	21
3.2 Selection of sample companies	22
3.3 Representative year of the sample	24
3.4 Formulation of indicators	24
3.5 Scoring system of Sustainability Report	25
4. Findings and Discussion	27
4.1 Extent of Sustainability Report Disclosures	27
4.2 Comparison of environmental sustainability score and social sustainability score	31
4.2.1 Environmental sustainability indicators disclosures	32
4.2.2 Social Sustainability indicators disclosures	33
4.3 Sustainability Reporting and Legitimacy Theory	36
4.4 Sustainability Reporting and Stakeholder Theory	40
4.5 Nordic pharmaceutical companies' sustainability reports in relation to regulations and standards	49
5. Conclusions	51
5.1 Conclusions and contributions	51
5.2 Limitations	54
5.3 Further Research	55
References	56
Appendices	69
Appendix A	69
Appendix B	70
Appendix C	71
Appendix D	72
Appendix E	73

List of abbreviations

CERES	Coalition for Environmentally Responsive Economies
CSR	Corporate Social Responsibility
CSRD	Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive
EU	European Union
GCI	Global Competitiveness Index
GRI	Global Reporting Initiative
GSCI	Global Sustainable Development Competitiveness Index
IFRS	International Financial Reporting Standards
IISD	International Institute for Sustainable Development
IMF	International Monetary Fund
OECD	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
R & D	Research and Development
SASB	Sustainable Development Accounting Standards Board Foundation
SRG	Standard Review Guide
UN	United Nations
UNICEF	United Nations International Children's Emergency Fund
UNWCED	United Nation World Commission on Environment and Development

1. Introduction

The coronavirus was declared a global pandemic by the World Health Organisation in March 2020, with the result that many countries were forced to completely shut down to reduce the spread of the virus. The pandemic caused unprecedented global economic disruption, resulting in a decline in economic activity (Baker et al., 2020). According to the World Economic Outlook, the global economy will contract by -3% in 2020, which would be worse than the 2008–2009 financial crisis (IMF, 2020). The Nordic countries had a less stringent approach to combating the COVID-19 pandemic in comparison to other countries. Despite this, the pandemic had an impact on their economies, particularly Denmark, which fared the worst of the Nordic countries (Scope Ratings, 2020).

The coronavirus has impacted several economies, forcing businesses to make strategic decisions affecting their policies and services to remain profitable. The pharmaceutical industry was not left behind, as the coronavirus disruptions had also put tremendous pressure on the global production of medicines, increasing the likelihood of shortfalls. These shortfalls were made worse by the widespread dissemination of inaccurate information, which has resulted in a tendency for pharmaceutical hoarding and supply chain interruptions (Sarkis, 2021). Pharmaceutical companies were under a lot of pressure to suggest possible COVID-19 vaccines and drugs. Based on research carried out by Gibb et al. (2020), there is a risk that more diseases originating in animals will infect humans due to changes in the ecosystem. This raised questions about the sustainability of companies should a similar outbreak occur in the future.

Sustainability Reporting (environmental and social reporting) has gained prominence in recent years as a result of changes in business and national contexts, debates about its drivers and motivations, and its potential role as a tool for social accountability (for example, Gray, 2010; Owen, 2008; Parker, 2005). Furthermore, sustainability has grown in importance following the

global financial crisis of 2008-2009 which placed a premium on sustainability practices (IMF, 2020). Also, the COVID-19 epidemic highlighted the relevance of environmental, social, and governance issues, hastening the move to more inclusive capitalism. Thus, the success of a company is determined by a wide collection of stakeholders all pursuing various economic, environmental, and social goals (Buchholz & Rosenthal, 2005).

Sustainability reporting, often referred to as Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) reporting, helps integrate CSR into core business processes and improve stakeholder management (Wensen et al., 2011). Sustainability reporting is one essential avenue through which organisations attempt to achieve these obligations therefore, sustainable business initiatives and corporate performance are revealed to the public through sustainability reports (Jones, Comfort & Hillier, 2015). Sustainability reports help companies convey their sustainability performance, promote transparency, improve brand value, reputation, legitimacy, reducing material and economic risks, enable benchmarking against competitors, indicate competitiveness and encourage employees (Amran, Lee & Devi, 2014; Herzig & Schaltegger, 2006; Jones et al., 2015; Ioannou & Serafeim, 2011).

Sustainability Reports are widely recognised as an important instrument of corporate accountability as well as indicators of company's commitment to sustainability (Frias-Aceituno, Rodriguez-Ariza & Garcia-Sanchez, 2013; Martínez-Ferrero, Garcia-Sanchez & Cuadrado-Ballesteros, 2015). According to KPMG (2015) sustainability reporting is now a common practice and its growth has accelerated and businesses are becoming increasingly aware of the significance of sustainability, just as companies' contribution are crucial to sustainable development. Therefore, the demand for sustainability reporting is increasingly compelled by social or governmental beliefs and administrative improvements in addition to the demand of stakeholders (Schaltegger, Bennett & Burritt, 2006). Furthermore, sustainability reporting is becoming more widely regarded as a critical aspect in ensuring a company's long-term viability

7

(Lozano & Huisingh, 2011). As a result, it is no surprise that the topic is gaining traction in industry and academia.

Milne and Gray (2013) asserts that current sustainability reporting practices, which include more social and environmental performance measurements, are a continuation of earlier corporate voluntary reporting practices from the 1990s, which tended to disclose narrative information on selected environmental, community, and employee issues as part of annual reports. In terms of scope, some proponents of both legitimacy and stakeholder theories of sustainability report that CSR refers only to business activities that are beyond the direct economic or technical interests of a company and that are voluntary (Davies, 2003).

Furthermore, pharmaceutical companies have become increasingly concerned about their presence in the environment in recent years, as the materials from pharmaceutical products can end up in groundwater and soil once consumed and excreted, potentially endangering aquatic organisms. Some pharmaceutical products, which are widely used in human medicine, are metabolised and excreted unchanged or at high concentrations, which end up in domestic wastewater (Pereira et al., 2015). Therefore, sustainability and its impact on the pharmaceutical industry have led to the consideration of sustainable green principles and practices for sustainable development in the pharmaceutical sector. These sustainable practices are now being incorporated into pharmaceutical companies' strategies and mission statements.

Purpose

The purpose of this study is to analyze and discuss the relevant adjustments made by pharmaceutical companies to the sustainability report during the pandemic based on the legitimacy theory and stakeholder theory, find the relevant evidence that enterprises maintain the legitimacy and stakeholder support through the sustainability report, and explore other internal factors supporting their behavior.

Research Question

This article will explore the following research questions: whether and how do pharmaceutical companies respond consistently in sustainability reporting during a pandemic? How well do the legitimacy theory and stakeholder theory apply to the sustainability report disclosure of Nordic pharmaceutical companies?

Therefore, following this introduction, a detailed literature review will be conducted, discussing the rationale for sustainability reporting from the stakeholder and legitimacy theory perspectives, as well as reviewing relevant standards governing sustainability reporting. The third chapter will introduce the methods used in the analysis, the selection of data, and the data source. The fourth chapter will present the findings and these will be analysed in light of the selected theoretical perspectives. In conclusion, we will discuss their contributions, limitations and future research directions.

2. Literature review

Several theoretical frameworks have been used to explain the motivations, trends, and nature of sustainability reporting in developed countries, developing countries, and the pharmaceutical industry (Deegan, 2002; Schneider, Wilson & Rosenbeck, 2010; Arena, Bozzolan & Michelon, 2015). These studies provide valuable information on the progress of the sustainability reporting approach and the importance of firms' sustainability practices. Most analyse sustainability reporting as a response to a stakeholder or societal pressures and do so to legitimise their actions to society, manage stakeholder perceptions, and boost profit.

2.1 Sustainability and the role of sustainability reporting

The concept of sustainability dates back to the early 19th century (IISD, 2012). However, the present-day debate on sustainability is drawn from the Brundtland Report of 1987, titled "Our Common Future," which depicts sustainable development as the type of development that considers the future while meeting the needs of the present (UNWCED, 1987). The United Nations General Assembly adopted the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development on September 25, 2015, emphasising the critical importance of transforming our companies, businesses, and lives into more sustainable ones (UN, 2015). Additionally, Arvidsson (2019a) discovered that corporations began to disclose sustainability information to external stakeholders (i.e., sustainability reporting) due to recent corporate scandals involving Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) issues, which appear to have been undermined in corporate activities.

According to Thiele (2016), many people believe that sustainability is simply an attempt to use natural resources more efficiently, but in reality, sustainability includes more than just recycling and energy conservation. Sustainability instils a sense of responsibility for the environmental, social, and economic systems that sustain us and encourage healthy living. This can only be accomplished by seeking economic expansion, environmental protection, and equity concurrently.

The term "sustainable reporting" usually refers to the distribution of external reports in the form of printed brochures or online electronic versions (Schaltegger et al., 2006). Additionally, sustainability reports present the values and governance model of an organisation. One of the critical effects of sustainability reporting, according to them, is that it involves management and employees in developing corporate sustainability goals, gathering data, and presenting sustainability information. As a result, external sustainability reporting should be designed in conjunction with internal communication and reporting procedures. Sustainability reporting serves as an effective tool for stakeholders to track a company's activities and assess how they adhere to societal expectations that promote sustainability report to improve the company's image (Arvidsson, 2019b).

Sustainability reporting ensures that organisations consider the effects of their activities on these issues and are open about the risks and opportunities they face (KPMG, 2015). This demonstrates its commitment to creating a sustainable global economy (Singhal & Dev, 2016). Furthermore, Hahn and Kühnen (2013) showed in their research on sustainability reporting that differences between countries could affect sustainability reporting due to political and legal system differences, economic and financial differences, and education and labour system differences. Currently, there is an ever-greater demand for informative and credible sustainability information due to stakeholders' increased awareness and interest, including financial institutions. To support this trend, the development of corporate sustainability disclosure has shifted from primarily voluntary to legislative and normative initiatives (Arvidsson, 2019b).

According to Azim and Azam (2013), researchers have analysed several conceptual frameworks (such as political economy, legitimacy, and stakeholder theory) to explain sustainability reporting's drives, tendencies, and nature. In their study, researchers observed that both legitimacy theory and stakeholder theory had been used to create themes for disclosure measurement and analyse the way companies include this information in their reports.

2.2 Legitimacy Theory

The legitimacy theory is the most commonly used theory to explain social reporting. In legitimacy theory, organisations constantly strive to ensure that their activities are viewed as legitimate by others within the boundaries and norms of their respective societies (Suchman, 1995; Tilling & Tilt, 2010). These boundaries and norms are not intended to be perpetual, but vary over time, necessitating organisations' responsiveness to the ethical (or moral) environment in which they operate (Islam & Deegan, 2008).

According to Suchman (1995, p. 574) "Legitimacy is a generalised perception or assumption that the actions of an entity are desirable, proper, or appropriate within some socially constructed system of norms, values, beliefs and definitions". Legitimacy is viewed as an operational resource similar to an intangible asset, whose worth must be maintained to secure continuing societal support (Suchman, 1995; Tilling & Tilt, 2010). Legitimacy theory suggests that organisations will continue to strive to build positive perceptions about themselves by making sure that their behaviour is perceived as being consistent with the norms and bonds of the society in which they operate (Deegan, 2009). However, if there is a perceived misalignment between organisational operations and public ideals, a legitimacy gap will emerge (Haniffa & Cooke, 2005), which could jeopardise the organisation's place in the larger social structure.

Additionally, the legitimacy theory asserts that companies convince society of the legitimacy of their organisational activities by revealing information such as community participation and environmental impacts (Hahn & Kühnen, 2013). As a result of the increased demand for social media and stakeholder attention, companies are increasingly publishing ESG data to promote awareness, motivate employees, strengthen their brand, and avoid market stigmas associated with environmental irresponsibility (Hahn & Kühnen, 2013).

Further, the legitimacy theory claims that corporations' disclosures are influenced by external forces (political, economic and social), and disclosures legitimise their activities (Lehman, 1999; Lindblom, 1994). The legitimacy theory postulates that organisations function in society according to a social contract that allows them to accomplish a variety of socially desirable objectives in exchange for societal approval of their goals and vision, and eventually, their survival. As a result, it must provide sufficient social data for society to determine if it is a decent corporate citizen. The corporations attempt to justify their continued existence by legitimising their activities through disclosures (Lehman, 1999).

Deegan (2002) asserts that the legitimacy theory indicates that organisations do not possess an inherent right to resources or exist; rather, they exist according to society's extent to which they are considered legitimate. In light of this, he advised organisations that they need to consider community expectations if they want to succeed and that failing to do so could result in sanctions for the organisation.

Several academics adopt a legitimacy viewpoint (Deegan, 2002; Deegan, Rankin & Tobin, 2002), which implies that organisations need legitimacy to operate, and that companies report on their CSR activities to legitimise their relationships with society and diverse stakeholders. In addition, a number of empirical studies based on this legitimacy perspective have produced conflicting results. Some (Campbell, 2004, Deegan et al., 2002) claim that a legitimacy

approach is necessary to explain levels of corporate social disclosure and non-disclosure, but others (Guthrie & Parker, 1989; O'Dwyer, 2002) maintain that it did not explicitly explain the disclosure levels.

2.3 Stakeholder Theory

Stakeholder theory is another theory often used by researchers to explain why organisations disclose social and environmental information. Stakeholder theory originates with Freeman's seminal work of 1984. According to Freeman, stakeholder theory was concerned with the issue of value creation and trade. (Freeman et al., 2010). According to Gray, Adams and Owen (2017), the more significant a stakeholder is to a company, the greater the effort needed to manage their relationship in order to advance the company's interests. According to this theory, providing sustainability information is an effective communication approach used by companies to manage stakeholders and enhance their reputation.

According to Deegan (2006), there are two main perspectives of the stakeholder theory: ethical and managerial. According to him, the ethical perspective of stakeholder theory suggests that an organisation might be required to treat all stakeholders fairly, regardless of the stakeholder power. The ethical perspective suggests that businesses should be managed to maximise the benefits of all stakeholders, regardless of whether they improve their financial results. However, this argument fails as a description or explanation in a social accounting context (Gray et al., 2010).

On the other hand, the managerial perspective suggests that managers of an organisation should strive to satisfy stakeholders who control important resources needed by the organisation. In the managerial perspective, the focus is on controlling stakeholders deemed to have a more direct impact on the organisation. This perspective, according to Gray (2010), can be used in an "organisation-centered" manner. Additionally, the focus organisation

14

identifies stakeholders based on "the extent to which the organisation believes the interplay with each group needs to be managed in order to further the organisation's interests" stakeholders deemed to have a more direct impact on the organisation. This perspective, according to Gray et al. (1996). As a result, stakeholder theory takes on a managerial perspective that concerns managing an organisation's interaction with its essential stakeholders. As opposed to the ethical perspective, the managerial perspective is often examined empirically (Deegan, 2009).

Nowadays, the Sustainability Report has been widely regarded by society. Herremans, Nazari and Mahmoudian (2016) believe that the concept of sustainable development itself stems from the enterprises' catering to the needs of stakeholders, and one of the effective ways to attract stakeholders is the disclosure of Sustainability Report. Amran and Ooi (2014) found that under the influence of meeting the expectations of relevant stakeholders, enterprises tend to prove their governance transparency and effectiveness through sustainable disclosure. Therefore, the significant impact of stakeholders on sustainability reporting is self-evident. Stakeholder participation can have a positive impact on sustainable development performance in the short term, and may promote the company to move towards more sustainable business behavior in the long term (Manning, Braam & Reimsbach, 2019), this study also supports the legitimacy theory.

However, with the passage of time, the relationship between sustainable disclosure of enterprises and stakeholders seems to begin to undergo subtle changes. As Amran and Ooi (2014) pointed out, under the influence of stakeholders, many companies have gradually changed sustainable disclosure from passive to active, and adjusted their business planning and decision-making through active participation and understanding of the needs of stakeholders. This means that there are more complex influences and connections between the sustainable disclosure of enterprises and stakeholders. There is a relationship of reciprocity,

interdependence and power between stakeholders and organisations, which is used in the form of benign two-way communication (Bellucci et al., 2019)

2.4 Sustainability Reporting in the Pharmaceutical Industry

Based on a study by Schneider et al. (2010), pharmaceutical industry sustainability efforts have grown due to an increase in related activities. In their view, this can be explained by the growing participation of pharmaceutical companies in related voluntary standards. However, specific sustainability-related activities within the pharmaceutical sector still vary widely in number and form from company to company, and those activities do not always reflect comprehensive industry efforts.

Additionally, they found that the pharmaceutical sector utilises sustainability to protect its corporate reputation while adding value since the shift provides a way to exhibit various initiatives that meet society's expectations and that are most pertinent to their business. Furthermore, pharmaceutical companies are increasingly participating in related voluntary standards to demonstrate their commitment toward sustainability, and sustainability-related activities still differ significantly in terms of number and form from one company to another within the industry and are not always representative of an industry-wide initiative. This trend necessitated the creation of unified standards, which resulted in the introduction of reporting-based standards, such as the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) and other sustainability reporting standards (GRI, 2021).

2.5 GRI standards and the application of GRI in Sustainability Report

2.5.1 GRI Standards

The GRI Standards are intended to provide organisations with comparable and credible tools for understanding and reporting their impacts on economic, environmental, and social factors, thereby increasing transparency on the company's contribution to sustainable development (GRI, 2011).

The Coalition for Environmentally Responsive Economies (CERES) and the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP) created the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) in 1997, and it is today the most frequently used and trusted standard for sustainability reporting (KPMG, 2022). The GRI issued its first guidelines in a 1999 exposure draft, which was first published in 2000. Its mission is to help businesses create sustainability reports that include their operations' social, environmental, and economic impacts. The GRI intends to enhance its guidelines as a globally recognised framework for comparative sustainability reporting. It examines the impact businesses have on economic systems locally and internationally and defines economic sustainability as an organisation's effects on its stakeholders and economic systems (GRI, 2011). It has been embraced by the world's major corporations and is mentioned in international policy instruments and stock exchanges (GRI, 2021). A recent survey by KPMG (KPMG, 2020) found that 96% of the world's largest 250 companies (the G250) report on sustainability performance, highlighting the widespread adoption of the GRI Standards globally.

Since its inception, the GRI standards have been updated, and the most recent, Universal Standard 2021, will take effect for the information reported after January 1, 2023. The revised GRI Universal Standards 2021 will assist businesses in their transparency journey and position them to meet emerging regulatory disclosure requirements such as the EU Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive (CSRD) and the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) Enterprise Value Standards (KPMG, 2022). Besides developing the GRI Standards, GRI also facilitates their use and implementation among various stakeholders (GRI, 2021).

According to the GRI standards, businesses must disclose the sustainability effects of their

activities to improve their operations' efficiency and build stakeholder relationships. Without transparency, there is no trust. Without trust, doing business becomes hard, markets cannot function efficiently, and institutions lose their legitimacy (GRI, 2021). Corporate accountability is becoming increasingly important in a rapidly changing environment. As a result, it is critical to measure and report following internationally recognised standards such as the GRI Standards, thus providing access to information that facilitates better decisions while ensuring data quality and comparability (GRI, 2021).

The GRI principle, as stated previously, is designed to bring together stakeholders from around the world and ensure that reporting firms can remain open and honest. As a result, stakeholders must remain diverse and benefit from discoveries as sustainability is developed. The voluntary nature of GRI reporting poses a problem in quantifying its tangible and intangible effects in the implementation of sustainable solutions (GRI, 2021). Thus, concerns about the limitations and possible negative consequences of GRI reporting are expressed.

2.5.2 GRI application in Sustainability Reporting

Gray and Milne (2002) argued that understanding and then trying to change a system as complex as humankind's interactions with the natural environment is a challenge and, at the very least, requires the cooperation of every sector of society. For them, among the various groups of societal actors concerned with how sustainability can affect future well-being and development, the international business community may indeed be the most influential and organised. They are concerned that reporting on an organisation's sustainability is problematic since it is difficult, if not impossible, to articulate in precise words what a sustainable organisation would look like. If uniformity is to be achieved, there should be substantive legislation requiring it for all large organisations.

Turcsanyi and Sisaye (2013) note that organisations that use GRI's Standard Review Guide

(SRG) for their report are also required to notify GRI if their report has been released and to provide the GRI with a copy of it; register their report on GRI's online database of reports, and request that GRI check their self-declared application level. For them, these guidelines provide organisations with valuable organisational-process information that can be used for continuous performance improvement over time. Even though they are voluntary, these guidelines can be an effective method to communicate with stakeholders.

According to them, the implementation of the GRI guidelines of reporting follows the legalistic approach to CSR which suggests that businesses conform to laws and regulatory requirements of sustainability through CSR reporting, in which voluntary compliance with these requirements is self-reported. Moreover, CSR can be an essential means of documenting an organisation's compliance with social contracts and legalistic requirements by publishing a report on the declining or decreasing number of fines paid for implementing or maintaining sustainable practices. (Turcsanyi & Sisaye, 2013).

However, there is currently no widely accepted approach to ensuring sustainability information, resulting in a wide range of formats and approaches (Perego & Kolk, 2012). Therefore, due to the voluntary nature of sustainability reporting, corporations, including pharmaceutical companies, have no consistent global method of standardising their sustainability reports.

2.6 The European Union (EU) Directive on Sustainability Reporting

The concept of sustainability reporting has been strongly supported by the EU (Yıldız & Özerim, 2013). For the European Union (EU) region, the Directive 2014/95/EU on Disclosure of Non-financial and Diversity Information by Large Companies and Groups went into effect on October 22, 2014. The directive stated that, from the 2017 fiscal year, all EU member states must implement these provisions into domestic laws, thus requiring large companies

(those with more than 500 employees) to display information related to the environment, social, multiculturalism, human rights, bribery, and anti-corruption policies (European Directive, 2014). While the EU Directive has laid out some guidelines for disclosure of non-financial information, it has not established any standards for the disclosure of that information (European Commission, 2017). Furthermore, organisations such as the Global Reporting Initiative, the International Integrated Reporting Council, and the Sustainability Accounting Standards Board (SASB) have created voluntary standard frameworks for unification, transparency, and comparability of reports to address this problem.

3. Methodology

In order to objectively and systematically compare the sustainability reports of sample pharmaceutical companies, this paper uses the content analysis framework to analyse the sustainability reports. This research method is objective and precise for the analysis of specific communication content, it is helpful to draw scientific, complete, and factual conclusions from the analysis of sustainability reports (Bonsón et al., 2012) and it is widely used to study information published by public entities (Ettredge, Richardson & Scholz, 2001).

3.1 Content Analysis procedures

In order to quantify and classify the Sustainability Reporting information, we adopted the use of content analysis technique because it offers researchers a systematic approach to handling large, unstructured datasets (Hackston & Milne, 1996; Krippendorff, 2012).

The specific method of this content analysis needs to meet the following conditions:

- At present, there are many disclosures in the form of pictures and tables in many companies' Sustainability Reports. In addition, comparing the figures of the company's indicators in previous years is also an essential standard for the content analysis and scoring of Sustainability Reports. Therefore, this method needs to realise the function of figure comparison and have the ability to analyse the information in pictures and tables.
- 2. Unlike most analysis standards at the vocabulary or phrase level, content analysis is completed at the "topic" level. This is because compared with the analysis of words or phrases, the analysis at the "topic" level is more conducive to our analysis and comparison of enterprise Sustainability Reports, which helps to more accurately capture the integrity of relevant statements distributed in multiple sentences and pages in the report (Demir & Min, 2019).

Considering the above conditions, this paper chooses the manual scoring method to analyse the content of the sustainability report of the sample companies and a volumetric word count is used to determine the quantity of disclosure (per theme and per company). Word counts have been found to be highly connected to other indicators, such as sentences or percentage of pages, and are viewed as a suitable indication of the priority that corporations attach to specific sustainability reporting themes (Gray et al., 1995a). Furthermore, as Hackston and Milne (1996) suggested, the disclosures can be evaluated qualitatively. First, we use the classification methodologies described in Gray et al. (1995b) and Hackston and Milne (1996) to see if the disclosures per theme reflect the company neutrally, favorably, or adversely.

Also, we examine companies' sustainability reports to determine the number of times noneconomic stakeholders are mentioned directly. Finally, we classify the nature of social or environmental activities disclosed in sustainability reports into Environmental and Social Sustainability indicators.

3.2 Selection of sample companies

The selection of sustainability report samples focuses on pharmaceutical companies in Nordic countries. The selection of pharmaceutical companies in the Nordic region is mainly based on two considerations. First of all, the awareness and level of sustainable development in Nordic countries are generally considered the leading position in the world. Strand et al. (2015) mentioned that Scandinavia is often regarded as a global leader in CSR and sustainable development. In addition, the sustainable development adjusted Global Competitiveness Index (GCI) released by the world economic forum aims to "assess a set of systems, policies, and factors that enable a country to ensure social and environmental sustainability while maintaining productivity in the long term." Among the 137 economies in the latest report of the World Economic Forum (2017-2018), Sweden, Finland, Norway and Denmark ranked 7th, 10th, 11th, and 12th, respectively.

Solability, a Swiss-Korean joint venture founded in 2005, is a sustainable management consulting firm for corporations and policymakers and the publisher of the Global Sustainable Competitiveness Index (GSCI), which has been measuring green growth since 2012 (Datanyze, 2022). The GSCI released annually by Solability measures national competitiveness based on 131 measurable quantitative index information from many trusted institutions, including the world bank, the International Monetary Fund, and United Nations agencies (solability, 2021). In the GSCI rating, Nordic countries firmly occupy the top five positions; see GSCI extract at Appendix A. Therefore, Nordic pharmaceutical companies' extension of sustainable development content during the pandemic is representative and has reference value.

For the selection of sample companies, the top ten (10) pharmaceutical companies with total assets in Nordic countries were selected through the ORBIS database. ORBIS is a powerful entity data resource library with information about 400 million companies and entities worldwide, of which 41 million have detailed financial information. Matej et al. (2020) pointed out that the ORBIS database can provide essential insights into global economic trends, and the database is more suitable for analysing the best-performing companies.

Table 1: Selected sample of Nordic pharmaceuticalcompanies				
S/No.	Company			
1	ASTRAZENECA AB			
2	NOVO NORDISK A/S			
3	SWEDISH ORPHAN BIOVITRUM			
4	H. LUNDBECK A/S			
5	BAYER NORDIC SE			
6	NOVOZYMES A/S			
7	LEO PHARMA A/S			
8	BAVARIAN NORDIC A/S			
9	TERVEYSTALO OYJ			
10	ORION OYJ			

3.3 Representative year of the sample

The World Health Organisation declared the epidemic as a public health emergency of international concern on January 30, 2020 and a pandemic on March 11, 2020. 2019 is the last complete financial year before the pandemic, and the sustainability report of this year reflects the normality of enterprises before the pandemic. At the same time, the United Nations Statistics Division (2021) pointed out that in the second year of COVID-19 pandemic, the progress of several years or even decades have stopped or reversed. 2021 will determine whether the world can make the necessary changes. As the impact of COVID-19 is continuous, 2021 is the last complete financial year after COVID-19. The sustainability report of this year is the report that can best reflect the changes of enterprises' attitude towards sustainable development during COVID-19. Therefore, this paper takes the sustainable development reports of 2019 and 2021 as the main years to show the expression of enterprises' sustainable level before and after the pandemic.

On this basis, since 2020, as the initial fiscal year affected by the pandemic, is closely connected with the two main expression years, this paper adds the score of the 2020 sustainability report as a transition and reference.

3.4 Formulation of indicators

At present, many international organisations and enterprises have provided disclosure frameworks and standards for sustainability reports. Chen and Bouvain (2009) pointed out that the GRI model is the most influential, widely covered, and internationally recognised standard information guide for the sustainability of public institutions in the world. Dumay, Guthrie and Farneti (2010) found that the number of public institutions using the GRI model increased year by year. The credibility of the GRI model shows an increasing trend. Therefore, this paper uses the disclosure guidelines provided by the GRI as the basic reference index for the content analysis of sustainability reports.

In addition, due to the particularity of the pharmaceutical industry, reference is made to the nine (9) sustainable development disclosure standards specific to the pharmaceutical industry in the Sustainable Development Accounting Standards Board Foundation (SASB). SASB is a non-profit organisation located in the United States. It is committed to developing a series of ESG disclosure indicators for specific industries. Each industry has its own unique set of sustainability accounting standards in the SASB system. The organisation believes that enterprises must manage environmental and social capital for specific industries if they want to create value. At the same time, the organisation pointed out that sustainability accounting should reflect enterprises' social and environmental impact on their production and services. This paper contends that compared with GRI, SASB is more targeted for formulating specific industry disclosure indicators, which can be used as an effective supplement to GRI's sustainability reporting standards.

3.5 Scoring system of Sustainability Report

According to the standards proposed by GRI and SASB, 18 environmental and 21 social sustainability indicators related to sustainability reports are compiled (Appendix C). There are 39 indicators in total, and each indicator was scored manually. The highest score for each standard is 3, and the lowest score is 0. Therefore, the scores were assigned as follows:

• When there is no mention of an indicator in the report, 0 point was assigned;

• When the report simply mentions an indicator but does not mention any specific methods and data, 1 point was assigned;

• If there is no specific digital disclosure or the data is not comprehensive, or the relevant figures show that the indicator level has decreased, 2 points were assigned; and

• Based on mentioning an indicator, if the report describes in detail the specific practices and achievements of realising and improving the indicator, discloses the specific figures, and

25

compares the figures of previous years, the indicator will receive 3 points.

Furthermore, Table 2 shows an example of the scoring system used.

Table 2: Application of scoring system					
Score	Scoring level	Example			
0	No Mention	No relevant information provided in the report			
1	Generic statement	"Our company pays great attention to combating counterfeit drugs."			
2	More detailed information	"The carbon emission in 2018 is 2,000 tonnes and this year it is 2,500 tonnes."			
		"As of 2020, the company's total CO2 emissions will amount to 800,000 tonnes. In 2019, the company produced 500,000 tonnes. This represents a 5% reduction from last year's emissions. We have committed to reducing our CO2 emissions by a percentage of 10% by the end			
3	Full and systematic coverage	of 2030."			

4. Findings and Discussion

4.1 Extent of Sustainability Report Disclosures

The research on the factors affecting the adoption of sustainability reporting mainly addresses the decision or likelihood to adopt sustainability reporting, while the research on the extent of reporting focuses on the quantity or amount of information disclosed (the number of keywords, sentences, or pages used as ways of identifying major themes discussed in sustainability reports). Among the aspects that determine the quality of disclosures, research examines, for example, the way information is provided (i.e., the provision of narratives and descriptions), the provision of qualitative data (i.e., "soft" information such as claims about strategies), and the provision of quantitative data (i.e., quantitative performance indicators), and seeks to determine the type of information conveyed.

Table 3 and 4 detail sustainability disclosures and changes over time based on sustainability (Social and Environmental) scores and word counts. Table 3 and 4 show that information about their social activities was more readily available and increased in the year 2022, indicating a greater emphasis on their commitment to social reporting. According to the two tables, social activities were also more widely publicised than environmental activities. Furthermore, Table 4 shows that the aggregate word count increased as all of the companies raised the scope of their sustainability reports' disclosures. For example, the average word count for both social and environmental sustainability indicators nearly doubled in 2021 compared to 2019, which could be ascribed to the pandemic and employers' increased focus on employee welfare, health and safety.

Table 3: Social and Environmental scores for 2019 - 2021								
Ranking	Company	Sustainability report 2019	Sustainability report 2020	Sustainability report 2021	Sustainability report 2019	Sustainability report 2020	Sustainability report 2021	
		Environmental Score	Environmental Score	Environmental Score	Social Score	Social Score	Social Score	
1	ASTRAZENECA AB	40	30	38	48	45	43	
2	NOVO NORDISK A/S	30	20	21	44	40	38	
3	SWEDISH ORPHAN BIOVITRUM	29	28	28	35	37	39	
4	H. LUNDBECK A/S	33	34	36	24	30	39	
5	BAYER NORDIC SE	31	40	37	43	45	46	
6	NOVOZYMES A/S	34	33	30	25	27	23	
7	LEO PHARMA A/S	21	16	18	29	32	33	
8	BAVARIAN NORDIC A/S	21	17	24	21	24	26	
9	TERVEYSTALO OYJ	22	21	26	25	30	32	
10	ORION OYJ	34	30	36	39	49	47	
	Total	295	269	294	333	359	366	
	Average	30	27	29	33	36	37	
	Average (%)	30%	27%	29%	33%	36%	37%	

Table 4: Sustainability Reporting (Social and Environmental sustainability indicators) word count for 2019 - 2021								
Ranking	Company	Sustainability report 2019	Sustainability report 2020	Sustainability report 2021	Sustainability report 2019	Sustainability report 2020	Sustainability report 2021	
		Environmental Score	Environmental Score	Environmental Score	Social Score	Social Score	Social Score	
1	ASTRAZENECA AB	95	96	100	189	192	105	
2	NOVO NORDISK A/S	12	22	25	24	30	27	
3	SWEDISH ORPHAN BIOVITRUM	15	33	36	30	66	72	
4	H. LUNDBECK A/S	33	48	63	66	96	126	
5	BAYER NORDIC SE	108	144	189	216	288	378	
6	NOVOZYMES A/S	29	17	29	50	63	57	
7	LEO PHARMA A/S	53	21	42	105	42	84	
8	BAVARIAN NORDIC A/S	30	27	36	60	90	126	
9	TERVEYSTALO OYJ	32	33	75	63	75	150	
10	ORION OYJ	89	108	116	177	216	231	
	Total word count	494	549	710	980	1 158	1 356	
	Average word count	49	55	71	98	116	136	

In addition, the number of document analyses has grown significantly over the years. This is attributed to an increase in published sustainability reports (GRI, 2011), which provide easy access to a large amount of data, explaining the popularity of this research method from a practical standpoint. Appendix D depicts the total number of pages in the sustainability reports examined. The growing use of stand-alone sustainability reports, as well as the renaming of CSR reports to Sustainability Reports, is consistent with the EU Directive (EU Directive, 2014), and it is now the dominant form of sustainability-related reporting.

By analysing and scoring the Sustainability Reports of 10 Nordic pharmaceutical companies in 2019 - 2021, the scoring results are shown in Table 3. The pharmaceutical companies' sustainability reports showed a decline in the environmental sustainability indicators scores and an increase in the social sustainability indicators score during the years under review. As a whole, this shows that pharmaceutical companies still maintain a positive focus on sustainable development and the level of sustainable disclosure is on the rise.

In Europe, unlike other industries, the pharmaceutical industry has hardly been hit by the pandemic, and the market demand for non-patented drugs is relatively stable. At the same time, the production of innovative drugs has expanded due to the testing and development of new vaccines and the study of 2019 coronavirus disease treatment (De Vet et al., 2021). The pharmaceutical industry showed a unique superiority and importance during the pandemic compared with other industries. In the face of the disaster brought by disease, the society hopes that pharmaceutical companies and researchers will save people's health. Whether the functions of pharmaceutical companies can be completed, whether the speed of research and development of drugs to deal with diseases is fast and effective, whether the reserves of drugs are sufficient, whether the quality of drugs can be guaranteed, and whether the price of drugs can be affordable by the people have a decisive impact on whether and when the society can

resume regular operation.

Therefore, during the pandemic, pharmaceutical companies received more attention than ever before, which was reflected in both economic and social aspects. Furthermore, the economic impact of the embargo on most other industries, coupled with the longest bull market in biotechnology history before the pandemic, has prompted growth-seeking generalist investors to flock to biotechnology and health technologies in a record number. In addition to large capital inflows, the public has generated widespread calls for equitable access to drugs. Silverman and Lusiani (2020) called for that in order to prevent the covid pandemic from becoming an unequal pandemic, any drug or vaccine developed by pharmaceutical companies must be provided to all people free of charge and must be provided to all the people most in need in the world fairly and equitably. Facing the world's attention, pharmaceutical companies need to respond positively. As McCabe (2020) said, public trust in the pharmaceutical industry has been weakened, but large-scale behaviour provides an opportunity for pharmaceutical manufacturers to start rebuilding their reputation - provided that they give priority to socially responsible practices. Therefore, as an effective way for enterprises to demonstrate their social responsibility and sustainable level, it is wise and reasonable for pharmaceutical companies to strengthen the disclosure of sustainable content generally.

4.2 Comparison of environmental sustainability score and social sustainability score

The sustainability score is divided into two aspects: environmental sustainability indicators and social sustainability indicators. Table 3 clearly shows the changes in the indicators of the sample pharmaceutical companies.

Overall, compared with 2019, the decline of the company's sustainability score in 2021 is concentrated in environmental indicators. Swedish Orphan Biovitrum and Leo Pharma A / S,

the two companies, still reduced their performance in environmental sustainability based on no decline in the total score. In other words, while the score on environmental sustainability decreased, they made relatively substantial progress in social sustainability.

For a long time, the sustainability of the pharmaceutical industry has been a concern by society, especially about the environmental level (Milanesi, Runfola, & Guercini, 2020). Belkhir and Elmeligi (2019) conducted an industry-specific comparative analysis of major pharmaceutical companies in the world and found that the emission intensity of the pharmaceutical industry is even higher than that of the automotive industry.

4.2.1 Environmental sustainability indicators disclosures

We found that the majority of the pharmaceutical companies' disclosures failed to adequately communicate their environmental performance. In 2019, the average score for this category of performance measures was 30%, followed by 27% in 2020 and 29% in 2021 (Table 3). 2020 had the lowest average score, which can be ascribed to the pandemic. According to the sample companies' sustainability reports, poor performance of power consumption, water consumption, carbon emission, waste reduction, and energy was due to an increase in vaccines and medicine production to mitigate the impact of the pandemic or a likely supply chain interruption. Energy and water usage, carbon dioxide (CO2) emissions, Greenhouse Gas Emissions, biodiversity, waste treatment, and material recycling were the most often mentioned environmental indicators. Our analysis found that among the sample companies' sustainability reports, AstraZeneca and Bayer Nordic led the way in environmental performance disclosure. All the companies did not, however, explicitly identify the enormous environmental consequences of their activities.

32

4.2.2 Social Sustainability indicators disclosures

In evaluating social performance disclosures, we discovered more positive findings. The Nordic pharmaceutical businesses exhibited a rise in social sustainability reporting, with an average overall score of 33% in 2019, 36% in 2020, and 37% in 2021 on social performance parameters. Employee health, welfare, and safety, gender distribution, working conditions (the rapid shift to remote and hybrid working), and employee involvement were all covered in greater detail in the reports than broader social issues related to their company' economic operations. The majority of the reports conducted contained analyses of the company's workforce by gender and age and they attempted to analyse the makeup of their workforce using parameters like those proposed by GRI.

Mert Demir and Maung Min (2019) believe that the reason for pharmaceutical companies to improve the level of such disclosure comes from the legitimacy of disclosure. This paper agrees with this analysis result to a certain extent. Obviously, for pharmaceutical companies, the financial level, environmental and social sustainability have attracted the attention of all sectors of society and have a more far-reaching impact on relevant stakeholders. However, there are many regulations and restrictions on financial reports and environmental sustainability reports, such as audit intervention and the evaluation of resource utilisation and emission level by relevant departments. Therefore, the disclosure of financial data and environmental sustainability disclosure has no clear restrictions and regulations to a great extent. For example, standards such as "commitment to employees," "accountability and fair pricing" are challenging to measure with specific figures. Therefore, pharmaceutical companies are given greater freedom in disclosure. Enterprises can obtain higher scores by lengthening the disclosure length of such standards, adding relevant regulations and strategies to the system, and other low-cost ways. In addition, the social sustainability standard includes 9 standards formulated by SASB for pharmaceutical companies. It is worth noting that 6 of the 10 sample companies strengthened the overall disclosure of these 9 standards during the pandemic, which is reflected in the improvement of the score of SASB standards. On average, the score of the sample companies in the SASB standard in 2021 increased by 6.3% compared with that in 2020 which increased by 4.3% (Appendix E). This means that pharmaceutical companies pay more attention to the special responsibilities of the pharmaceutical industry than the social sustainability standards applicable to all industries.

As mentioned earlier, society pays attention to whether pharmaceutical companies can distribute drug resources fairly and reasonably during the pandemic and whether everyone is deprived of the equal right to health for profit. Therefore, when we take "access to medicine" one of the most eye-catching indicators, as an example. In the comparison of sustainability report scores in 2019 and 2021, it can be found that the scores of 2 of the 10 companies on 'access to medicine' remained unchanged, and the scores of six companies showed that the disclosure and investment level of "access to medicine" had been improved during the pandemic. Among them, the scores of Bayer Nordic SE, Swedish Orphan Biovitrum, H. Lundbeck A / S and Orion Oyj on this index jumped to full marks. This can prove that pharmaceutical companies have paid more attention to the direction of social sustainability during the pandemic, especially the special responsibility of sustainable development in the pharmaceutical field. This conclusion also confirms Mert Demir and Maung Min (2019) that the reason for pharmaceutical companies to improve such disclosure levels comes from the pressure of relevant stakeholders.

During the pandemic, pharmaceutical companies obtained more investment funds and had stronger R & D needs, which could have a vital impact on more people's lives. Therefore, for

the relevant stakeholders such as investors, developers and consumers, the social sustainable disclosure has the strongest correlation with their interests. This is because these social sustainability standards, especially the nine sustainability standards for the pharmaceutical industry established by SASB, focus on human rights, the protection of patients and employees and the safety of drugs.

However, during the pandemic, the performance of pharmaceutical companies is still unsatisfactory. First, for the issue of counterfeit drugs, which is crucial to pharmaceutical companies, 6 of the 10 sample companies did not implement any changes in the disclosure of sustainability reports during the pandemic. Only Orion Oyj and Bayer Nordic SE have increased the score of counterfeit drug disclosure, and H. Lundbeck A / S is the only company whose score of counterfeit drug disclosure has decreased after the pandemic. Disappointingly, 4 of the 10 sample companies completely ignored the concern about counterfeit drugs.

In addition, three companies did not pay any attention to the safety of clinical trial participants before and after the pandemic. Valmorri et al. (2021) indicated that during the COVID-19 pandemic, clinicians participating in clinical trials were self-isolated because of the risk of infection transmission, and the clinical research staff also had to perform crucial virus containment tasks. In this context, it is necessary to maintain a high standard of clinical trials. Although Leo Pharma A / S, Bavarian Nordic A / S and Terveystalo Oyj scored 0 in the safety of clinical trial participants before the pandemic, they improved their scores after the pandemic. In contrast, AstraZeneca AB and Orion Oyj reduced their disclosure in the project after the pandemic. On the whole, pharmaceutical companies' disclosure of the safety of clinical trial participants has not attracted enough attention. During the pandemic, the demand for drug research and development and clinical trials increased, but the number of clinical trial participants was affected by the pandemic. Unger et al. (2021) found that during the

COVID-19 pandemic in early 2020, the number of registrations participating in cancer experiments decreased sharply. The challenge of recruiting patients for clinical trials during a pandemic should be recognised. Park et al. (2021) also pointed out that a large number of COVID-19 clinical trials were conducted without strict methods and adequate planning. If the clinical trial during the pandemic cannot be carried out under the full plan to ensure the safety of patients, it will not only fail to ensure the scientific preciseness and credibility of the experiment but also cause incalculable harm to the clinical trial participants. Therefore, for pharmaceutical companies, the safety of clinical trial participants should be paid more attention.

Issues related to accessibility and fair pricing are also more concerned during the pandemic. During this period, the pricing of drugs by pharmaceutical companies determines people's ability to obtain drugs at the economic level. According to the scoring results, only Orion Oyj, H. Lundbeck A / S and Swedish Orphan Biovitrum improved the disclosure level of sustainability and fair pricing in the sustainability report in 2021, while three of the remaining companies did not disclose it at all, and the disclosure level of the other four remained unchanged. It is worth noting that none of the companies reduced the disclosure level of accessibility and fair pricing after the pandemic. Therefore, it can be considered that the disclosure of this standard by the sample companies is generally on the rise.

4.3 Sustainability Reporting and Legitimacy Theory

The empirical analysis supports the legitimacy theory, where it highlights the fact that the companies search for the consensus within the context of reference by publishing information which goes beyond regulatory requirements. Given the research question, it is evident that the companies attempt to publish sustainability reports in compliance with the GRI standards, SASB standards and EU Directives.
Such findings are mainly supported by changes in sustainability reporting scores. As mentioned in Chapter 3, the sustainability report score of this paper is evaluated according to the relevant standards of GRI and SASB, so the score of sustainability report is directly related to whether its disclosure content conforms to the relevant standards. When the disclosure content of the sustainability report of the sample company is more consistent with the relevant standards, its score will increase. As shown in table 3, the sustainability report scores of the 10 sample companies in 2019-2021 are generally on the rise, which means that the sample companies pay more and more attention to the reference of internationally report. In addition, the relationship between the length and score of the sustainability report can also prove that the sample companies tend to strengthen the disclosure of relevant standards, which is a proof that the sustainability report of Nordic pharmaceutical companies conforms to the legitimacy theory.

For the sake of rigor, this paper records and summarises the Sustainability Reports of 10 pharmaceutical companies and the data disclosed by relevant figures, as shown in table 3.

We note that the seven companies that have improved their sustainable scores in 2021 have increased their disclosure contents and pages to varying degrees. In the observation of companies with lower scores, the length and content of their disclosure have been reduced to varying degrees. For example, the sustainability report of AstraZeneca in 2019 was 63 pages, and this number dropped sharply to 35 in 2021. Novo Nordisk's sustainability related content is disclosed together with the annual report, and the length has not changed significantly. However, it is not difficult to find out from the comparison of the company's ESG specific data disclosure tables that 140 items were disclosed in 2019, while this figure only reached 79 in 2021. Novozymes A/S got a lower sustainability score in 2021 than in 2019 on the premise

that the number of pages in the sustainability report was not reduced. This is because the decrease in the company's score did not come from the reduction in the disclosed items and contents, but from the poor performance in the sustainability related figures disclosed in 2021, such as the increase in indicators such as electricity, water and carbon dioxide emissions.

Based on the discussion of the relationship between the sustainability report score and the consistency of relevant standards, this paper concludes that the length of the report reflects the consistency between the sustainability report and relevant international standards to a certain extent. In other words, the longer the sustainability report and the more content it discloses, the more likely its disclosure items will cover relevant international disclosure standards, thus helping the company get a higher sustainability score. In combination with the conclusion drawn by Dilling and Caykoylu (2019) that longer comprehensive reports have higher quality on average, this paper believes that pharmaceutical companies generally strengthen the quality of sustainable reports by increasing the length of sustainable reports, which also proves that the preparation of sustainable reports by enterprises conforms to the legitimacy theory.

In addition, some companies also demonstrated the legitimacy theory by adding specific relevant standard disclosure reports. For example, Bayer Nordic SE added the SASB index sustainable accounting disclosure report to the original sustainability report in the 2021 disclosure. Obviously, the increase in this report helped the enterprise's sustainability report score significantly jump from 74 to 83.

Lindblom (1994) asserts that legitimacy theory also takes into account the increased external pressures, since these external pressures have both positive and negative impacts on the overall environmental and social significance. As a result, sustainability reporting is a critical component of the legitimacy process as it contributes to increased transparency, credibility

38

and trust between stakeholders and communities (Deegan, 2002). Hence, sustainability reporting aims to bridge the legitimacy gap until the desired level is reached (Lindblom, 1994), so that stakeholders can act more effectively within the socioeconomic context in which they operate by gaining, maintaining and restoring consensus. A stakeholder's consensus is essential for realising the objectives of the social and economic sector in which they operate.

Furthermore, it is theorised that the industry's statistical insignificance compared to other dimensions of sustainability reporting (introduction, economic and social factors) is due to the increasing importance of voluntary disclosure, as it encourages firms to communicate about sustainability challenges regardless of their own commitments and activities, thus reducing context hostility even when it is not industry-specific (Milne & Gray, 2013). Thus, Gray et al. (1996) assert that communication is a key factor in establishing legitimacy in the reference environment and for stakeholder approval. Having social responsibility is not enough to be justified. Communicating the objectives, the actions, as well as the results obtained to the stakeholders is equally important (Deegan, 2002; De Villiers & Van Staden, 2006).

In addition, Lindblom (1994) defines four major strategies firms can use to generate legitimacy:

- The company can notify the public about changes in its performance and activities.
- The company can attempt to change the public's perception of its behaviour without actually changing it.
- The company can try to divert attention away from contentious issues by increasing the visibility of related activities.
- The company can attempt to alter the public's perception of its performance.

In the analysis of the companies' sustainability reports, it appears that all of them engage in all four of the sustainability strategies. The comparably length of the companies' sustainability reports reflects the fact they all operate in a politically vibrant industry and have a comparatively large workforce.

4.4 Sustainability Reporting and Stakeholder Theory

Manetti G. (2011) believes that stakeholder participation is one of the foundations of the sustainability report. This theory participates in the company's decision-making through mutual commitment. Katamba, Nkiko and Ademson (2016) pointed out that for pharmaceutical companies / enterprises / industries, stakeholders include employees, managers and patients, instruct / prepare doctors, nurses and suppliers who provide input / logistics to regulatory agencies. In this study, we found that the relationship with stakeholders indeed runs through the Sustainability Reports of the sample companies. Due to the special attributes of the pharmaceutical industry, its stakeholders are more closely related to COVID-19 than those in other industries.

The pandemic has had a negative impact on the psychology of people from all walks of life. Watkins-Martin et al. (2021) found that the incidence rate of depression increased after the pandemic in the form of questionnaires, including adults and adolescents. Zhou et al. (2021) pointed out that people's mental health problems have increased since the outbreak of COVID-19, which has become one of the main public health problems during this serious health crisis. The results also show that people become more depressed after the outbreak of the pandemic, and the relevant measures implemented by the government and the blockade of the environment have also increased the level of anxiety and depression.

In fact, the work at home, school at home, unemployment, the reduction of social interaction

and the potential risk of infectious diseases brought about by the pandemic will put pressure on people's psychology, and the changes of lifestyle and social interaction also need time to adapt.

As a direct impact of the pandemic, the pharmaceutical industry, in which a large number of medical workers cannot avoid contact with viruses and patients, suffers more psychological pressure. Patel et al. (2021) found that health workers reported more depression during the pandemic. Among them, front-line work, often watching COVID-19 news and excessive fear of COVID-19 have become statistically significant variables related to major depression. On this premise, it is very necessary for pharmaceutical companies to pay attention to employees' mental health from the perspective of sustainable development. As Correia Da Silva et al. (2022) found, the depression of medical workers in the pandemic is related to the lack of personal protection methods and equipment, because it may expose medical workers to the lack of support from their families and discrimination from others in the community.

Another interesting aspect is the patient's access to medication. Salahuddin et al. (2022) through searching the media reports on the websites of drug regulatory agencies in public and Republic countries, it is found that there are relevant reports of drug shortage in both developed and developing countries during the pandemic. Reported drug shortages range from simple essential drugs to drugs needed in intensive care. Awucha et al. (2020) taking Nigeria as an example, pointed out that during the COVID-19 blockade, 35.2% of patients with chronic diseases had difficulty in obtaining essential drugs, and 84.0% had chronic health deterioration due to difficulty in obtaining drugs. 77.7% of participants observed an increase in drug costs, and 73.9% of respondents with chronic diseases confirmed that their income had been negatively affected by the pandemic. Bookwalter (2021) also pointed out that COVID-19 led to an unacceptable shortage of drug supply in the United States. When the

news of drug shortage ferments, panic, fear and depression begin to appear. All this shows that the pandemic has brought difficulties to people's access to drugs.

Based on the above considerations, in order to more accurately explore the relationship between the sustainable disclosure of pharmaceutical companies and relevant stakeholders during the pandemic, this paper makes a deeper analysis on the changes in the disclosure contents of the Sustainability Reports of 10 sample companies.

We note that companies' sustainability reports have both identity and diversity in their responses to the pandemic. AstraZeneca AB has taken various sustainability actions in combination with COVID-19 in 2021. For example, in terms of "employee health and safety", AstraZeneca AB advocates the implementation of pandemic control measures, and sets up sites to vaccinate employees, strengthen hygiene and cleaning, and welcome employees back to work under the premise of caution and control. In addition, AstraZeneca AB proposes to strengthen the investment and reform of the health system, and believes that the strengthening of the health system can effectively combat the crisis caused by COVID-19 and other pandemics, solve the problems such as service interruption caused by COVID-19, and meet the basic needs of the population served. The specific measures proposed by the company are mainly reflected in increasing investment, establishing strategic partners with more stakeholders, and strengthening the training of health care providers. At the same time, AstraZeneca AB emphasised in the sustainability report that during the pandemic, the company's operation was carried out in a highly regulated environment to ensure the trust of relevant stakeholder groups in the company.

In terms of social sustainability, Novo Nordisk A / S included the unemployed affected by COVID-19 into the patient assistance plan and provided 90 days of free insulin for such patients. At the same time, the company also pointed out that in response to its "cities

42

changing diabetes" plan, some activities participated by the city included the response to COVID-19. This paper argues that this means that COVID-19 promotes the pharmaceutical company to achieve the goal of "access to medicines" to a certain extent, and increases the interaction with community patients through COVID-19, which is expected to improve the company's level in "implementation community activities".

In addition, Novo Nordisk A / S pointed out that COVID-19 stimulated the innovation of the medical industry and emphasised the necessity of breakthrough innovation, whether for infectious or non-infectious diseases. This is because COVID-19 substantially increases the social, economic and human burden of severe chronic diseases affecting hundreds of millions of people. In addition, the urgency of drug delivery also increased due to COVID-19.

Similar to AstraZeneca AB, H. Lundbeck A / S also pointed out the importance of the establishment of the health system. At the same time, the company also invested to enhance the organisational capacity of the company and conduct online training for employees on the basis of ensuring that employees are protected from the threat of COVID-19 transmission to the greatest extent. Since COVID-19 has brought great pressure to the company's operation activities, the company has also paid more attention to the psychological state of employees during this period. They hold recreational activities to enable employees to obtain a relaxed and healthy working state. In addition, H. Lundbeck A / S disclosed that the frequency of physical audit during the pandemic was affected and reduced, which may lead to the hidden danger of "business ethics".

In its 2021 Sustainability Report, Swedish Orphan Biovitrum proposed that the impact of the pandemic has exacerbated the isolation and difficult access of many people to treatment, and called on European policymakers to consider supporting the environment for promoting innovation in rare diseases in Europe. At the same time, they believe that the research and

development of rare disease treatment drugs should not be ignored because of the high risk of research and development. This paper argues that this is also the performance of enterprises to improve the level of "access to medicines" during the pandemic. During the pandemic, Swedish Orphan Biovitrum performed well in the research and development of Hematology and immunology. In addition, they also provide information tools and materials to COVID-19 related patients and health care personnel in the form of community participation. In order to ensure the safety of employees during the pandemic, the company encourages working from home, improves the workload of employees, and formulates flexible working hours and cautious protective measures for necessary travel.

Bayer Nordic SE strengthened the disclosure of "employee health and safety" in 2021 and reported in detail the data and situation of industrial accidents related to COVID-19. For example, one American employee died after being infected with COVID-19, which does not rule out that he was infected with the disease during working hours. In response to the pressure of the pandemic on global medical services, Bayer Nordic SE said that the company is actively expanding the use of products and services in the field of prescription and over-the-counter drugs. It is worth mentioning that Bayer Nordic SE pays special attention to the health crisis brought by the pandemic to farmers and the possible negative impact on food production. The company provided seeds and crop protection products to 230,000 small farmers in many countries, thus encouraging the increase of food production. In addition, the company has expanded the capacity of the health care sector through product and currency donations.

During the pandemic, Bayer Nordic SE participated in an alliance of pharmaceutical companies to combat crimes related to counterfeit products, and cracked down on illegal quotation and counterfeiting through a joint COVID-19 initiative. It can be seen that the

pandemic has strengthened the alliance of pharmaceutical companies in ensuring drug safety to a certain extent. In the audit of suppliers, Bayer Nordic SE encountered problems similar to H. Lundbeck A / S. Due to the impact of the pandemic, the audit of suppliers was affected and could not be completed as planned. In the report of Bayer Nordic SE, the impact of COVID-19 on human rights is reflected in the increase in the number of child workers. Due to travel restrictions, the company is unable to conduct sampling survey and timely supervision in some areas, so the number of child labour has increased or there is a lack of real figures in some areas. The report also mentioned the flexible office measures taken to ensure the safety of employees during the pandemic, as well as the concern for employees' mental health.

Novozymes A / S also emphasised its good handling of COVID-19 related changes in its 2021 report, especially in the survey related to "employee health and safety". In addition, the company specifically mentioned support for communities affected by COVID-19 and provided free COVID-19 vaccines to middle-income and low-income countries through UNICEF. In 2021, the employee turnover rate of the company increased from 8.7% in 2020 to 11.8%. Novozymes A / S believes that this is the low turnover rate in 2020 caused by the pandemic and the performance of economic recovery in 2021.

Leo Pharma, like AstraZeneca, understood the necessity of a secure health system and expressed concern about how the covid may affect and modify dermatology patients' access to treatment and care as well as their employees. They continued to take the essential safeguards to protect their employees' health and ensured the uninterrupted supply of drugs to patients at affordable rates by implementing a flexible working policy such as remote/hybrid working and also providing financial assistance to help them improve their home workstation.

They supported their employees by providing on-site COVID-19 testing, while other industrial locations conducted temperature screenings of employees prior to their arrival. All

these were put in place to demonstrate that they were willing to change policies to accommodate the new normal. They also promoted social learning by finding new ways to engage with colleagues and share knowledge across business units and boundaries. Furthermore, the LEO Pharma Academy promoted a collaborative social learning culture by holding virtual social learning sessions where internal and external experts shared best practices and case studies on significant projects and strategic subjects. This was done to keep employees engaged and allow them to connect online in order to safeguard their mental health while also increasing productivity.

The importance of sustainability was realised by Bavarian Nordic, which began to pay more attention to the social impact of its production. This is evident in their report, which shows that they are concerned about the environmental impact of their products, especially since they are currently working on the development of a new vaccine that will serve as a universal booster vaccine for SARS-CoV2 that will provide longer-lasting immunity without requiring adaptation to new virus mutations. Additionally, through enhanced manufacturing efficiency and the implementation of GRI-compliant procedures, the company hopes to drastically cut carbon footprints and greenhouse gas emissions while increasing renewable energy usage.

Furthermore, in response to the company's transformative shift to become a fully-fledged and global vaccination player in 2021, they updated their culture and values and improved employee involvement to demonstrate a degree of awareness and dedication to the company's purpose and plan. Similarly, they also embraced a flexible work strategy, allowing their leaders and employees to create unique agreements about how to plan and execute their work based on their respective roles. The company improved its digital attitude as well by utilising digital technology and solutions to improve productivity.

In response to the needs arising from COVID-19, Terveystalo responded quickly by

launching entirely new service solutions that provided risk assessment, testing and tracing. As part of their vaccination efforts, the company participated in the COVID-19 vaccination campaign by making the vaccine available to residents in the community they operate and to employees whose employers have partnered up with them for vaccinations.

Also, due to the increase in mental health problems resulting from the pandemic, Terveystalo created the Fokus special unit which provides psychological and psychotherapy services to occupational health service consumers and private customers through both physical and virtual channels, which has resulted in a 30% reduction in sickness absence and associated costs due to mental health problems.

Terveystalo introduced a consumer-oriented version of a new kind of health-care service based on Nightingale Health blood evaluations, a health index based on the blood evaluations, and digital health-care content. The technology of blood analysis has been utilised for over a million blood samples already, making it one of the most widely used medical research tools in the world today.

Additionally, they demonstrated their willingness to change by updating their operating model, tools, and indicators related to work ability management in 2021 in response to the pandemic. The operating model provides information to support employee work ability management, enables them to anticipate risks, assist in enhancing individual work ability and enable cooperation among employees to create a work environment that enhances the professional performance of individuals and the social and economic well-being of communities.

Despite the fact that the COVID-19 pandemic disrupted the supply chain and affected logistics and raw material prices, Orion was able to meet market demand for medicines and

ensure a reliable supply. The organisation closely monitored the evolution of COVID-19 and quickly adapted operations to address the pandemic, securing production operations and quality assurance through a variety of measures, including extensive remote work and minimal external visits to the production sites, as well as maintaining good hygiene.

They also identified risks throughout the supply chain and developed collaborative relationships with suppliers to reduce risks throughout the supply chain. Production and Quality Management were able to operate at full capacity and achieve a high level of service for the year thanks to these preventive measures. This was evidenced by the analysis we conducted on their sustainability report.

Among other things, Orion and other companies helped to ensure a safe transition to hybrid work (i.e. a mix of onsite and offsite work) by suggesting employees use face masks and providing them with staggered lunch times. A similar effort to Terveystalo was the implementation of a professional health care system for their employees that allowed them to ensure that production and laboratory operations continued as smoothly as possible. The occupational health care services, whose goal is to support employees' abilities to cope at work, has been shown to be helpful for employees working remotely, including the help of occupational psychologists. Managers also promoted employee well-being by hosting webinars on hybrid work leadership and encouraging teams to develop their own hybrid work principles. Their new e-learning programs, such as Business Understanding, were designed to enhance a feedback culture and lead to hybrid learning.

Based on the above analysis, we can confirm the impact of stakeholder theory on the sustainable reporting of pharmaceutical companies during the pandemic. The adjustment of the 10 sample pharmaceutical companies' Sustainability Reports to the pandemic revolved around the stakeholders in the industry. Most of the sample companies mentioned in the

sustainability report that through donation, improving R & D efficiency, organizing community activities and strengthening supply chain management. It is considered as a timely, accurate and effective means to improve the drug availability of patients in these ways, which is conducive to strengthening the relationship between pharmaceutical companies and relevant stakeholders from the perspective of patients. In addition, advocating online training for employees, setting flexible working hours and more comprehensive protective measures for medical workers are all wise actions to maintain the relationship between employees, managers, doctors, nurses and other stakeholders. A few companies propose to establish cooperative relationship with suppliers as a means to support the association between companies and suppliers by reducing the risk of the whole supply chain. On the other hand, this paper believes that compared with creating more benefits, the pandemic has promoted the pharmaceutical companies to emphasize and pay attention to the life and health of relevant stakeholders from the perspective of their own work, and raised the industry's attention to human rights. This is because the pharmaceutical industry has the particularity that other industries do not have. In addition, although the restrictions brought about by the pandemic on transportation and liquidity have objectively brought difficulties to the audit work of enterprises, 10 sample companies have emphasised in the sustainability report that they will resolutely carry out anti-corruption and other strategies during the pandemic, and the anticorruption of enterprises will also affect the views of stakeholders from the perspective of social reputation (Álvarez Etxeberria & Aldaz Odriozola, 2018).

4.5 Nordic pharmaceutical companies' sustainability reports in relation to regulations and standards

The analysis' findings (environmental and social sustainability indicators) reveal that the level of application and implementation of the GRI guidelines and SASB standards has a significant and positive relationship with the level of application of these standards in the preparation of sustainability reports. Furthermore, the data reveals that the Nordic pharmaceutical companies followed EU Directives by issuing sustainability reports in addition to annual reports (European Directive, 2014). Previous research (Turcsanyi & Sisaye, 2013; Gray & Milne, 2002) has looked into the function and effects of applying the GRI Standards guiding principles, but no consensus has been reached and this can be attributed to voluntary disclosure.

Furthermore, the GRI principles continue to play an important role in shaping specific strategic decisions and reporting processes (GRI, 2021). Companies can issue high-quality, well-detailed reports that are easily comparative because of a high level of implementation of these international rules. However, it is important to note that following GRI Standards is not only enough to provide high-quality reporting; it also takes into account the depth and level of detail with which these standards are followed (GRI, 2021). Furthermore, as companies participate in more widespread and broad stakeholder involvement, this significant feature of reporting principles may influence and drive the same standard setter to further integrate this important aspect in reporting principles over time. It is therefore evident from this analysis that GRI guidelines and local laws significantly and positively influence the preparation and publication of a social and environmental report.

5. Conclusions

COVID-19 has rapidly brought great impact to the world in a short time, which leads to more and more people's awareness of the importance of sustainability for survival. As an industry directly related to COVID-19, the sustainable development of the pharmaceutical industry will undoubtedly play an important role in the well-being of human society. However, the arrival of COVID-19 is a coexistence of challenges and opportunities for the pharmaceutical industry. Under the background of the attention of all walks of life and a large amount of capital injection. how pharmaceutical companies should make corresponding countermeasures and adjustments on the sustainability report to adapt to this huge change is a difficult problem faced by all pharmaceutical enterprises. Therefore, it is necessary to pay attention to the trend of sustainable reporting by pharmaceutical companies during the pandemic. We try to analyse the sustainability changes of pharmaceutical companies and the performance of the industry in the field of sustainability during this period, and analyse and verify the sustainability report from the perspective of legitimacy theory and stakeholder theory.

5.1 Conclusions and contributions

According to legitimacy theory, legitimacy is the relationship between an organisation's actions and values and the values of a broader society. Legitimation is the means by which institutional legitimacy is attained. Further acknowledging that legitimacy is evaluated subjectively rather than in accordance with societal values is the stakeholder theory. Similarly, Freeman et al. (2010) highlights that if stakeholders are open to talking and making concessions, they are more likely to support and approve of initiatives. This research demonstrates that these theories share comparable aims despite having different points of view, levels of precision, and resolutions. They seek to clarify how businesses ensure their continued existence and expansion. They all emphasise, however, that efficiency and financial

performance alone are insufficient to guarantee long-term existence.

The content analysis was structured so that it provided an overview of the quality of information in addition to analysing the quantity of information. The results of the content analysis provide a good picture of the current best sustainability reporting practices in Nordic pharmaceutical companies. Companies implement voluntary disclosure methods based on the legitimacy theory in order to maintain and expand consensus among the communities in which they operate. According to this viewpoint, businesses undertake communicative decisions and activities in order to bridge the legitimacy gap until they achieve the amount of legitimacy they desire. In circumstances where companies seek consensus through the publishing of information about not just financial but also social and environmental issues, the empirical analysis supports the legitimacy theory and stakeholder theory.

Sustainability reporting is becoming increasingly crucial in legitimacy processes, as it contributes to increased credibility and confidence with the local community and stakeholders. However, due to the social settings in which companies operate, legitimacy processes vary from firm to firm.

In addition, the mandatory reporting legislation introduced by the EU Directive in 2017 has provided companies with a framework used as a checklist to develop their sustainability reports. This approach has led to a more comprehensive evaluation of sustainability data and this is evident in the sustainability reports we analysed as we found that the change of its sustainable report length for a single pharmaceutical company is positively related to its sustainable disclosure level to a certain extent. In other words, when the length of sustainability reports of most enterprises increases compared with previous years, the probability of sustainable disclosure score increases compared with previous years.

In addition, from the two aspects of environmental sustainability indicators and social

sustainability indicators, the environmental sustainability level of pharmaceutical companies generally has a downward trend during the pandemic. This paper believes that the rise of medical demand and a large amount of capital injection during the pandemic led to the poor performance of environmentally sustainable development of pharmaceutical companies during this period, which is reflected explicitly in the increase in carbon emission, waste, and energy consumption. In contrast, pharmaceutical companies' social sustainable disclosure levels have been improved during the pandemic, which is more prominent in the nine standards for the pharmaceutical industry formulated by SASB. This paper believes that this is affected by the industrial characteristics of the pharmaceutical industry.

In this study, we contribute to the literature by discussing the relevance of stakeholder theory and legitimacy theory to sustainability reporting. Another contribution is our analysis of the motivation, extent, and quality of corporate sustainability reports in the Nordic context. Nevertheless, we found overlap in the application of both theories. This overlap can be investigated further by researchers. According to Gray et al. (1995a), the legitimacy theory and stakeholder theory are overlapping theories that differ in their levels of perception and resolution rather than competing theories. They state that treating them as two separate theories would be incorrect since they are different in their levels of perception and resolution as well as their levels of resolution. Thus, both stakeholder theory and legitimacy theory study organisations and social interactions, however, their methods for understanding these complex social phenomena are different.

Furthermore, our study contributes to existing literature by providing evidence of the possibility of analysing sustainability data through the adoption of a mixed structure of content analysis. This method aids researchers in overcoming the limitations associated with content analysis in determining disclosure quality.

5.2 Limitations

It is necessary for us to put forward the limitations in this study. Due to time constraints, only 10 Nordic pharmaceutical companies were considered in this study. Although these pharmaceutical companies occupy an important position in the Nordic pharmaceutical market, and as the world leader in the field of sustainable disclosure, Nordic companies are representative in the research of sustainable reporting, there are still many large-scale and regional pharmaceutical companies playing an important role in the pharmaceutical industry. Therefore, this study is lack of universality. If time is enough, the research scope can be extended to pharmaceutical companies in the whole Nordic region or in other regions, and even to companies in other industries, so as to explore the particularity of sustainable reporting in various industries. In addition, questionnaires and interviews can also be used as a method to collect changes in the sustainable development of enterprises. However, due to the time limit and the moral consideration of issuing questions without a complete moral review procedure, this method can be tried in the follow-up study according to the actual situation.

In the research, we analysed the specific contents and scores of the sustainability report based on the legitimacy theory and stakeholder theory, which is conducive to exploring the specific adjustment direction of pharmaceutical companies for the sustainability report during the pandemic. We found the evidence of the application of legitimacy theory and stakeholder theory in the sustainable reporting of pharmaceutical companies, but did not verify the necessity of this application for pharmaceutical companies. In other words, this study does not prove whether or how the theory brings benefits to pharmaceutical companies.

In this paper, the research on the particularity of sustainability reporting in the pharmaceutical industry is limited, which is partly due to the lack of comparison. COVID-19 has had an impact on all industries in the world, and such impact will be sustained. However, there are

few relevant studies on the impact of COVID-19 on the sustainability of other industries, so whether the pharmaceutical industry really shows some characteristics different from other industries in terms of sustainability under the influence of the pandemic only exists in theory, but lacks empirical evidence. Therefore, this paper only based on the existing theory to understand and analyse the adjustment made by the pharmaceutical industry in the sustainability report.

5.3 Further Research

It will take more time to understand the significance of COVID-19 to society, and the impact of a pandemic on all walks of life will become more specific and clearer over time. Therefore, in future research, the selection of analysis samples for sustainability report needs to be expanded to more years after the pandemic, so as to more comprehensively analyse and define the impact of the crisis on sustainability report.

Horizontal comparison of sustainability reports of different industries during this period will help to study the particularity of the industry. At present, the existing studies focus more on the impact of the pandemic on the economic situation of the industry, but do not conduct enough in-depth data analysis and discussion on the changes found in the sustainability of various industries during this period.

In addition, it is feasible to explain the enterprise sustainability report in a way consistent with the legitimacy theory and stakeholder theory. On this basis, whether or how these two theories create benefits for enterprises during the pandemic is also crucial for future sustainable development report research.

References

Álvarez Etxeberria, I., & Aldaz Odriozola, M. (2018). The social reputation of European companies: Does anti-corruption disclosure affect stakeholders' perceptions?. *Corporate Social Responsibility and Environmental Management*, vol. 25, no. 5, pp.713-721.

Amran, A., Lee, S. P., & Devi, S. S. (2014). The influence of governance structure and strategic corporate social responsibility toward sustainability reporting quality. *Business Strategy and the environment*, vol. 23, no.4, pp.217-235.

Amran, A., & Ooi, S. K. (2014). Sustainability reporting: meeting stakeholder demands. *Strategic Direction*, vol. 30, no. 7, pp.38-41.

Arena, C., Bozzolan, S., & Michelon, G. (2015). Environmental reporting: Transparency to stakeholders or stakeholder manipulation? An analysis of disclosure tone and the role of the board of directors. *Corporate Social Responsibility and Environmental Management*, vol. 22, no. 6, pp.346-361.

Arvidsson, S. (2019a). An exposé of the challenging practice development of sustainability reporting: From the first wave to the EU Directive (2014/95/EU). In *Challenges in managing sustainable business* (pp. 3-24). Palgrave Macmillan, Cham.

Arvidsson, S. (2019b). *CEOs' talk of sustainability: Towards an inclusion of an embeddedness and value-creation perspective* (No. 19/02). LSR Working Papers Series. Available online: <u>EconStor: CEOs' talk of sustainability: Towards an inclusion of an embeddedness and value-creation perspective</u> [Accessed 27 April 2022]

Awucha, N. E., Janefrances, O. C., Meshach, A. C., Henrietta, J. C., Daniel, A. I., & Chidiebere, N. E. (2020). Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on consumers' access toessential medicines in Nigeria. *The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene*, vol. 103, no. 4,

pp.1630.

Azim, M. I., & Azam, S. (2013). Corporate Sustainability Reporting by Pharmaceutical Companies: is it what it seems to be?". *Corporate Ownership and Control*, vol. 11, no. 1, pp.767-778.

Baker, S.R., Bloom, N., Davis, S.J. & Terry, S.J. (2020). Covid-induced economic uncertainty (No. w26983). *National Bureau of Economic Research*. Available online: <u>COVID-Induced</u> <u>Economic Uncertainty (nber.org)</u> [Accessed 22 April 2022]

Belkhir, L., & Elmeligi, A. (2019). Carbon footprint of the global pharmaceutical industry and relative impact of its major players. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, vol. 214, pp.185–194.

Bellucci, M., Simoni, L., Acuti, D., & Manetti, G. (2019). Stakeholder engagement and dialogic accounting: Empirical evidence in sustainability reporting. *Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal*, vol. 32, no. 5, pp.1467-1499.

Bonsón, E., Torres, L., Royo, S., & Flores, F. (2012). Local e-government 2.0: Social media and corporate transparency in municipalities. *Government information quarterly*, vol. 29, no. 2, pp.123-132.

Bookwalter, C. M. (2021). Drug shortages amid the COVID-19 pandemic. *Us Pharm*, vol. 46, no. 2, pp.25-28.

Buchholz, R. A., & Rosenthal, S. B. (2005). Toward a contemporary conceptual framework for stakeholder theory. *Journal of business ethics*, vol. 58, no. 1, pp.137-148.

Campbell, D. (2004). A longitudinal and cross-sectional analysis of environmental disclosure in UK companies—a research note. *The British Accounting Review*, vol. 36, no. 1, pp.107-117.

Chen, S., & Bouvain, P. (2009). Is corporate responsibility converging? A comparison of

corporate responsibility reporting in the USA, UK, Australia, and Germany. *Journal ofbusiness ethics*, vol. 87, no. 1, pp.299-317.

Correia da Silva, A.T., Mascayano, F., Valeri, L., de Medeiros Jr, M.E., Souza, M.P.E., Ballester, D., Cavalcanti, M.T., Martínez-Alés, G., Moro, M.F., van der Ven, E. and Alvarado, R. (2022). COVID-19 Pandemic Factors and Depressive Symptoms Among Primary Care Workers in São Paulo, Brazil, October and November 2020. *American journal of public health*, vol. 112, no. 5, pp.786-794.

Datanyze (2022). SolAbility Profile and History. Available online: <u>SolAbility Company Profile</u> Management and Employees List (datanyze.com) [Accessed 23 May 2022]

Davies R. 2003. The business community: social responsibility and corporate values. In Making Globalization Good: the Moral Challenges of Global Capitalism, Dunning J (ed.). *Oxford University Press: Oxford*; pp.301–319.

Deegan, C. (2002). Introduction: The legitimising effect of social and environmental disclosures–a theoretical foundation. *Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal*, vol. 15, no. 3, pp.282-311.

Deegan, C. (2006). Legitimacy theory. In *Methodological issues in accounting research: theories, methods and issues* (pp. 161-181). Spiramus Press Ltd.

Deegan, C. (2009). Financial accounting theory McGraw Hill, North Ryde, NSW, Australia.

Deegan, C., Rankin, M., & Tobin, J. (2002). An examination of the corporate social and environmental disclosures of BHP from 1983-1997: A test of legitimacy theory. *Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal*, vol. 15, no. 3, pp.312-343.

Demir, M., & Min, M. (2019). "Consistencies and discrepancies in corporate social

responsibility reporting in the pharmaceutical industry", *Sustainability Accounting, Management and Policy Journal*, vol. 10, no. 2, pp.333-364.

De Vet, J. M., Nigohosyan, D., Ferrer, J. N., Gross, A. K., Kuehl, S., & Flickenschild, M. (2021). *Impacts of the COVID-19 Pandemic on EU Industries* (pp. 1-86). Strasbourg, Francuska: European Parliament. Available online: <u>Impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on EU</u> industries (g4media.ro)

De Villiers, C., & Van Staden, C. J. (2006). Can less environmental disclosure have a legitimising effect? Evidence from Africa. *Accounting, organizations and society*, vol. 3, no. 8, pp.763-781.

Dilling, P. F., & Caykoylu, S. (2019). Determinants of companies that disclose high-quality integrated reports. *Sustainability*, vol. 11, no. 13, pp.3744.

Dumay, J., Guthrie, J., & Farneti, F. (2010). GRI sustainability reporting guidelines for public and third sector organizations: A critical review. *Public Management Review*, vol. 12, no. 4, pp.531-548.

Ettredge, M., Richardson, V. J., & Scholz, S. (2001). The presentation of financial information at corporate Web sites. *International Journal of Accounting Information Systems*, vol. 2, no. 3, pp.149-168.

European Commission (2017), "Communication from the commission, guidelines on nonfinancial reporting (methodology for reporting non-financial information) (2017/C 215/01)". Available online: <u>Commission guidelines on non-financial reporting | European Commission</u> (europa.eu) [Accessed 03 May 2022].

European Directive (2014), Directive of the European Parliament and of the Council of 22 October 2014 amending Directive 2013/34/EU as regards disclosure of non-financial and diversity information MEDAR 28,5 798 by certain large undertakings and groups, 2014/95/EU. Available online: <u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-</u> <u>content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32014L0034</u> [Accessed 03 May 2022]

Freeman, R. E., Harrison, J. S., Wicks, A. C., Parmar, B. L., & De Colle, S. (2010). Stakeholder theory: The state of the art.

Frias-Aceituno, J. V., Rodriguez-Ariza, L., & Garcia-Sanchez, I. M. (2013). The role of the board in the dissemination of integrated corporate social reporting. *Corporate social responsibility and environmental management*, vol.20, no. 4, pp.219-233.

Gibb, R., Redding, D. W., Chin, K. Q., Donnelly, C. A., Blackburn, T. M., Newbold, T., & Jones, K. E. (2020). Zoonotic host diversity increases in human-dominated ecosystems.*Nature*, vol. 584, pp.398-402.

Global Reporting Initiative (2011). G3.1 Sustainability Reporting Guidelines. Global Reporting Initiative. Available online: <u>GRI - Home (globalreporting.org)</u> [Accessed 30 April 2022]

Global Reporting Initiative (2021). The GRI Standards: the global standards for sustainability reporting. Available online: https://www.globalreporting.org/standards/media/2458/gri_standards_brochure.pdf [Accessed 30 April 2022]

Gray, R. (2010). A re-evaluation of social, environmental and sustainability accounting: An exploration of an emerging trans-disciplinary field?. *Sustainability Accounting, Management and Policy Journal*, vol. 1, no. 1, pp.11-32

Gray, R., Kouhy, R., & Lavers, S. (1995a). Corporate social and environmental reporting: A review of the literature and a longitudinal study of UK disclosure. *Accounting, Auditing and Accountability Journal*, vol. 8, no. 2, pp.47–77.

Gray, R., Kouhy, R., & Lavers, S. (1995b). Methodological themes: Constructing a research database of social and environmental reporting by UK companies. *Accounting, Auditing and Accountability Journal*, vol.8, no. 2, pp.78–101.

Gray, R., & Milne, M. (2002). Sustainability reporting: who's kidding whom?. *Chartered Accountants Journal of New Zealand*, vol. 81, no. 6, pp.66-70.

Gray, R., Adams, C., & Owen, D. (2017). Social and environmental accounting. In *The Routledge companion to critical accounting* (pp. 243-259). Routledge.

Gray, R., Owen, D., & Adams, C. (1996). Accounting and accountability: Social and environmental accounting in a changing world. *Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal*, vol.10, pp.325-364.

Guthrie, J. and Parker, L.D. (1989) "Corporate Social Reporting: A Rebuttal of Legitimacy Theory", Accounting and Business Research, vol. 19, no. 76, pp.343 – 352.

Hackston, D. and Milne, M. (1996), "Some determinants of social and environmental disclosures in New Zealand companies", *Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal*, vol. 9, no. 1, pp.77-108.

Hahn, R., & Kühnen, M. (2013). Determinants of sustainability reporting: a review of results, trends, theory, and opportunities in an expanding field of research. *Journal of cleaner production*, vol.59, pp.5-21.

Haniffa, R. M., & Cooke, T. E. (2005). The impact of culture and governance on corporate social reporting. *Journal of accounting and public policy*, vol. 24, no. 5, pp.391-430.

Herremans, I. M., Nazari, J. A., & Mahmoudian, F. (2016). Stakeholder relationships, engagement, and sustainability reporting. *Journal of business ethics*, vol. 138, no. 3, pp.417-

Herzig, C., & Schaltegger, S. (2006). Corporate sustainability reporting. An overview. *Sustainability accounting and reporting*, pp.301-324.

International Institute for Sustainable Development (IISD) (2012). Sustainable Development Timeline. Available online: <u>Sustainable Development Timeline - 2012 (iisd.org)</u> [Accessed 01 May 2022]

International Monetary Fund (IMF) (2020). World Economic Outlook, April 2020: The GreatLockdown.Availableonline:World Economic Outlook, April2020:The Great Lockdown (imf.org) [Accessed 22 April 2022]

Ioannou, I., & Serafeim, G. (2017). The consequences of mandatory corporate sustainability reporting. *Harvard Business School research working paper*, (11-100). Available online: https://ssrn.com/abstract=179958 [Accessed 30 April 2022].

Islam, M. A., & Deegan, C. (2008). Motivations for an organization within a developing country to report social responsibility information: Evidence from Bangladesh. *Accounting, Auditing and Accountability Journal*, vol. 21, no. 6, pp.850–874.

Jones, P., Comfort, D., & Hillier, D. (2015). Materiality and external assurance in corporate sustainability reporting: An exploratory study of UK house builders. *Property Management*, vol. 33 no. 5, pp.430-450.

Katamba, D., Nkiko, C. M., & Ademson, C. (2016). Managing stakeholders' influence on embracing business code of conduct and ethics in a local pharmaceutical company: Case of Kampala Pharmaceutical Industries (KPI). *Review of International Business and Strategy*, vol. 26, no. 2, pp. 261-290. KPMG (2015). KPMG International Survey of Corporate Responsibility Reporting. Amsterdam: KPMG International. Available online: <u>KPMG-survey-of-CR-reporting- 2015.pdf</u> (home.kpmg) [Accessed 30 April 2022]

KPMG (2020). KPMG Survey of Sustainability Reporting 2020. Available online: <u>The Time</u> <u>Has Come: The KPMG Survey of Sustainability Reporting 2020 (assets.kpmg)</u> [Accessed 30 April 2022]

KPMG (2022). Revised system of the GRI Standards: Most significant changes since their introduction in 2016. Available online: <u>Revised system of the GRI Standards - KPMG</u> <u>Switzerland (home.kpmg)</u> [Accessed 01 May 2022]

Krippendorff, K. (2012). Content Analysis: An introduction to its methodology (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage

Lehman, G. (1999). Disclosing new worlds: a role for social and environmental accounting and auditing. *Accounting, Organizations and society*, vol. *24, no.* 3, pp.217-241.

Lindblom, C. K. (1994). The implications of organizational legitimacy for corporate social performance and disclosure. In *Critical Perspectives on Accounting Conference, New York,* 1994.

Lozano, R., & Huisingh, D. (2011). Inter-linking issues and dimensions in sustainability reporting. *Journal of cleaner production*, vol. 19, no. 2-3, pp.99-107.

Manetti, G. (2011). The quality of stakeholder engagement in sustainability reporting: empirical evidence and critical points. *Corporate social responsibility and environmental management*, vol. 18, no. 2, pp.110-122.

Manning, B., Braam, G., & Reimsbach, D. (2019). Corporate governance and sustainable

business conduct—Effects of board monitoring effectiveness and stakeholder engagement on corporate sustainability performance and disclosure choices. *Corporate Social Responsibility and Environmental Management*, vol. 26, no. 2, pp.351-366.

Martínez-Ferrero, J., Garcia-Sanchez, I. M., & Cuadrado-Ballesteros, B. (2015). Effect of financial reporting quality on sustainability information disclosure. *Corporate social responsibility and environmental management*, vol. 22, no.1, pp.45-64.

Matej Bajgar, Giuseppe Berlingieri, Sara Calligaris, Chiara Criscuolo, & Jonathan Timmis. (2020). Coverage and representativeness of Orbis data. *OECD Science, Technology and Industry Working Papers*. Available online: <u>https://doi-org.ludwig.lub.lu.se/10.1787/c7bdaa03-en</u> [Accessed 06 May 2022]

McCabe, C. (2020). ESG Viewpoint - COVID-19 and the pharmaceutical industry, *BMO Global Asset Management,* Available online: https://www.bmogam.com/viewpoints/responsible-investment/esg-viewpoint-covid-19-and-thepharmaceutical-industry/ [Accessed 9 May 2022]

Mert Demir, & Maung Min (2019). Consistencies and discrepancies in corporate social responsibility reporting in the pharmaceutical industry. *Sustainability Accounting, Management and Policy Journal*, vol. 10, no. 2, pp.333–364.

Milanesi, M., Runfola, A., & Guercini, S. (2020). Pharmaceutical industry riding the wave of sustainability: Review and opportunities for future research. *Journal of cleaner production*, vol. 261, pp.121204.

Milne, M. J., & Gray, R. (2013). W (h) ither ecology? The triple bottom line, the global reporting initiative, and corporate sustainability reporting. *Journal of business ethics*, vol. *118, no.*1, pp.13-29.

O'Dwyer, B. (2002) "Managerial Perceptions of Corporate Social Disclosure: An Irish Story", Accounting, Auditing and Accountability Journal, vol. 15, no. 3, pp.406 – 436.

Owen, D. (2008). Chronicles of wasted time? A personal reflection on the current state of, and future prospects for, social and environmental accounting research. *Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal*, vol. 21, no. 2, pp.240–267.

Park, J. J., Mogg, R., Smith, G. E., Nakimuli-Mpungu, E., Jehan, F., Rayner, C. R., ... & Mills,
E. J. (2021). How COVID-19 has fundamentally changed clinical research in global health. *The Lancet Global Health*, vol. 9, no. 5, pp.e711-e720.

Parker, L. D. (2005). Social and environmental accountability research: A view from the commentary box. *Accounting, Auditing and Accountability Journal*, vol. 18, no. 6, pp.842–860.

Patel, V. K., Pandey, S., Patel, F. B., Jani, A. M., Tiwari, D. S., & Thakrar, R. K. A. (2021). Study of correlates of depression among health care workers during COVID-19 epidemic. *Archives of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy*, vol. 1, pp.29-35.

Perego, P., & Kolk, A. (2012). Multinationals' accountability on sustainability: The evolution of third-party assurance of sustainability reports. *Journal of business ethics*, vol.110, no.2, pp.173-190.

Pereira, L. C., de Souza, A. O., Bernardes, M. F. F., Pazin, M., Tasso, M. J., Pereira, P. H., & Dorta, D. J. (2015). A perspective on the potential risks of emerging contaminants to human and environmental health. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, vol. 22, no. 18, pp.13800-13823.

Salahuddin, M., Manzar, D., Unissa, A., Pandi-Perumal, S. R., & BaHammam, A. S. (2022). The global shortage of essential drugs during the COVID-19 pandemic: Evidence based on aggregated media and social media reports. *Journal of Nature and Science of Medicine*, vol. 5,

no.1, pp.23.

Sarkis, J. (2021), "Supply chain sustainability: learning from the COVID-19 pandemic", *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, vol. 41, no. 1, pp. 63-73.

Schaltegger, S., Bennett, M., & Burritt, R. (2006). Sustainability accounting and reporting: development, linkages and reflection. An introduction. In *Sustainability accounting and reporting* (pp. 1-33). Springer, Dordrecht.

Schneider, J. L., Wilson, A., & Rosenbeck, J. M. (2010). Pharmaceutical companies and sustainability: an analysis of corporate reporting. *Benchmarking: An international journal*.

Scope Ratings (2020). Nordic Economies: Covid-19 Impairs 2020 Growth but Rising Public Debt Levels Still Manageable. Available online: <u>https://www.scoperatings.com/ScopeRatingsApi/api/downloadstudy?id=3ac9da6e-84f2- 4250-</u> <u>8fa9-7b9338ec748a</u> [Accessed 22 April 2022]

Silverman, R., & Lusiani N. (2020). People over profits: Make COVID-19 medicines and vaccines free and fair for all. *Oxfam International*. Available online: https://www.oxfam.org/en/blogs/people-over-profits-make-covid-19-medicines-and-vaccines-free-and-fair-all [Accessed 9 May 2022]

Singhal, N. S., & Dev, A. (2016). Global Reporting Initiative, Sustainability Reporting. In *Proceedings of the 6th International Conference on Operation and Technology of Offshore Support Vessels*.

SolAbility (2021). Global sustainable competitiveness index. Available online: <u>The Global</u> <u>Sustainable Competitiveness Index 2021 (solability.com)</u> [Accessed 01 April 2022]

Strand, R., Freeman, R. E., & Hockerts, K. (2015). Corporate social responsibility and

sustainability in Scandinavia: An overview. *Journal of Business Ethics*, vol. 127, no. 1, pp.1-15.

Suchman, M. (1995). Managing Legitimacy: Strategic and Institutional Approaches, *Academy* of Management Review, vol. 20, no. 3, pp.571-610.

Thiele, L. P. (2016). *Sustainability*. John Wiley & Sons. Available online: <u>Sustainability</u> -Leslie Paul Thiele - Google Books [Accessed 27 April 2022]

Tilling, M.V., & Tilt, C.A. (2010). The edge of legitimacy: Voluntary social and environmental reporting in Rothmans' 1956-1999 annual reports. *Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal*, vol. 23, no. 1, pp.55-81.

Turcsanyi, J., & Sisaye, S. (2013). Corporate social responsibility and its link to financial performance: Application to Johnson & Johnson, a pharmaceutical company. *World Journal of Science, Technology and Sustainable Development*. vol. 10, no. 1, pp.4-18.

Unger, J. M., Xiao, H., LeBlanc, M., Hershman, D. L., & Blanke, C. D. (2021). Cancer clinical trial participation at the 1-year anniversary of the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic. *JAMA Network Open*, vol. 4, no. 7, pp.e2118433-e2118433.

United Nations (UN) (2015). Transforming our world: the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development Available online: <u>Transforming our World: The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable</u> <u>Development .:. Sustainable Development Knowledge Platform (un.org)</u> [Accessed 27 April 2022]

United Nation World Commission on Environment and Development (UNWCED) (1987). Report of the United Nation World Commission on Environment and Development 'Our Common Future' (The Brundtland Report). Available online: <u>http://www.un-</u> <u>documents.net/our-common-future.pdf</u> [Accessed 22 April 2022] Valmorri, L., Vertogen, B., Zingaretti, C., Miserocchi, A., Volpi, R., Clemente, A., Bondi, I., Valli, I., Rudnas, B., Martinelli, G. & Nanni, O. (2021). Clinical research activities during COVID-19: the point of view of a promoter of academic clinical trials. *BMC medical research methodology*, vol. 21, no. 1, pp.1-8.

Watkins-Martin, K., Orri, M., Pennestri, M.H., Castellanos-Ryan, N., Larose, S., Gouin, J.P., Ouellet-Morin, I., Chadi, N., Philippe, F., Boivin, M. & Tremblay, R.E. (2021). Depression and anxiety symptoms in young adults before and during the COVID-19 pandemic: evidence from a Canadian population-based cohort. *Annals of general psychiatry*, vol. 20, no. 1, pp.1-12.

Wensen, K. V., Broer, W., Klein, J., & Knopf, J. (2011). The state of play in sustainability reporting in the EU. *Publication commissioned under the European Union's Programme for employment and social solidarity–progress (2007-2013). Amsterdam, Berlin.* Available online: <u>CSR-1321609537.pdf (csringreece.gr)</u> [Accessed 30 April 2022]

Yıldız, A., & Özerim, G. (2013). Corporate social responsibility in European context. *Contemporary issues in corporate social responsibility*, pp.43-55.

Zhou, J., Zogan, H., Yang, S., Jameel, S., Xu, G., & Chen, F. (2021). Detecting community depression dynamics due to covid-19 pandemic in australia. *IEEE Transactions on Computational Social Systems*, vol. 8, no. 4, pp.982-991.

Appendices

Appendix A

Rank	Country	Score
1	Sweden	61.2
2	Finland	60.7
3	Switzerland	60.4
4	Denmark	60.2
5	Norway	59.8
6	Iceland	59.8
7	Ireland	57.6
8	France	56.8
9	Austria	56.6
10	Germany	56.6
11	Estonia	56.1
12	Liechtenstein	56.0
13	Japan	55.3
14	Croatia	55.1
15	New Zealand	54.9

Excerpt from the global sustainable development competitiveness index (GSCI) ranking released by SolAbility in 2021.

Source: SolAbility (2021). Global sustainable competitiveness index. Available online: <u>https://solability.com/the-global-sustainable-competitiveness-index/the-index/</u> [Accessed 01 April 2022]

Appendix B

The top ten pharmaceutical companies with total assets in Nordic countries screened by ORBIS database				
Ranking	Company	Country		
1	ASTRAZENECA AB	SE		
2	NOVO NORDISK A/S	DK		
3	SWEDISH ORPHAN BIOVITRUM	SE		
4	H. LUNDBECK A/S	DK		
5	BAYER NORDIC SE	FI		
6	NOVOZYMES A/S	DK		
7	LEO PHARMA A/S	DK		
8	BAVARIAN NORDIC A/S	DK		
9	TERVEYSTALO OYJ	FI		
10	ORION OYJ	FI		

Key:	SE - Sweden
	DK - Denmark
	FI - Finland

Appendix C

The indicators used for sustainability report scoring				
	Reduce power consumption			
	Energy intensity			
	Conduct product lifecycle Assessment (LCA)			
	Recycled materials			
	Reduce water use			
	Renewable energy			
	Sewage discharge			
	Biodiversity			
Environmental sustainability	Harmful gas emission			
indicators	Reduce carbon footprint			
	Greenhouse gas emissions			
	Tree planting			
	Supplier Environmental Assessment			
	Reduce packaging			
	Waste To Energy			
	Reduce waste generation			
	Product environmental management			
	Environmental protection investment			
	Access to medicines			
	Drug safety and side effects			
	Safety of clinical trial participants			
	Affordability and fair pricing			
	Counterfeit drugs			
	Ethical marketing			
	Business Ethics (Corruption and bribery)			
	Employee recruitment, development and retention (Employment)			
	Engage employees (welfare)			
	Diversity for employees			
Social sustainability indicators	Commit to employees			
·····	Train and educate employees			
	Employee health and safety			
	Child Labour			
	Forced or Compulsory Labour			
	Public Policy			
	Non-discrimination			
	Customer Privacy			
	Implement community activities			
	Manufacturing and supply chain quality management			
	Engage employees			

Source 1: Global Reporting Initiative. (2012).

Available online: <u>https://www.globalreporting.org/how-to-use-the-gri-standards/gri-standards-english-language/</u>[Accessed 30 April 2022]

Source 2: SASB Standards(2018). Biotechnology & Pharmaceuticals Sustainability Accounting Standard. Available online:<u>https://www.sasb.org/wpcontent/uploads/2018/11/Biotechnology_Pharmaceuticals_Standard_2018.pdf</u> [Accessed 30 April 2022]

Appendix D

Table showing the total number of pages for each year's Sustainability Report					
Company	Pages of Sustainability Report 2019	Pages of Sustainability Report 2020	Pages of Sustainability Report 2021		
ASTRAZENECA AB	63	64	35		
NOVO NORDISK A/S	8	9	9		
SWEDISH ORPHAN BIOVITRUM	10	22	24		
H. LUNDBECK A/S	22	32	42		
BAYER NORDIC SE	72	96	126		
NOVOZYMES A/S	19	11	19		
LEO PHARMA A/S	35	14	28		
BAVARIAN NORDIC A/S	20	20	42		
TERVEYSTALO OYJ	21	22	50		
ORION OYJ	59	72	77		
Appendix E

Table showing the total Social and SASB scores for years 2019 - 2021							
Ranking	Company	Sustainability report 2019	Sustainability report 2020	Sustainability report 2021	SASB related standard score 2019	SASB related standard score 2021	SASB related standard score 2021
		Total Social Score			SASB Score		
1	ASTRAZENECA AB	48	45	43	21	20	19
2	NOVO NORDISK A/S	44	40	38	20	19	20
3	SWEDISH ORPHAN BIOVITRUM	35	37	39	12	14	15
4	H. LUNDBECK A/S	24	30	39	10	13	15
5	BAYER NORDIC SE	43	45	46	17	18	18
6	NOVOZYMES A/S	25	27	23	12	12	11
7	LEO PHARMA A/S	29	32	33	13	11	13
8	BAVARIAN NORDIC A/S	21	24	26	9	8	10
9	TERVEYSTALO OYJ	25	30	32	7	9	10
10	ORION OYJ	39	49	47	15	18	20
Total Score		333	359	366	136	142	151
Growth (year-on-year) % of Total Social Score		7,8%	1,9%				
Growth (year-on-year) % of SASB Score		4,4%	6,3%				